IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL KING, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. SC09-2421

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael King (appellant) was charged by consolidated indictment and information in Sarasota County with first degree murder, kidnapping, and sexual battery of (1/63-64;11/2107-09;13/260,263). A defense motion to suppress in-custody statements made to law enforcement officers (at the scene of and immediately following the arrest, at the North Port police department, and at the county jail) and to Harold Muxlow (at the police department), on the ground, inter alia, that King's requests for an attorney had been ignored, was granted by Circuit Judge Deno Economou (4/624-31;5/947-53;12/159-200;13/201-250).

Two pretrial motions were filed seeking to exclude or limit the testimony of FDLE firearms examiner John Romeo. In a motion $\underline{\text{in}}$ limine defense counsel asserted:

- 2. The State of Florida cannot lay a proper foundation or predicate for such testimony.
- 3. Casings taken from a gun range on January 18, [2008] cannot be tied to Mr. King (and therefore no such opinion should be allowed into evidence).
- 4. Officer Saxton of the North Port Police Department went to the Knights Trail Gun Range on January 18 and collected several casings from the ground in the area where Mr. King has allegedly been THE DAY BEFORE. Everyone who uses the gun range has casings drop onto the floor. There is no way to determine what belongs to who unless someone had been standing there and immediately collected the casings and no others were present.
- 5. These casings were then sent to FDLE to compare to the casing found at the burial site.
- 6. Because the State of Florida cannot lay the proper foundation and/or chain of custody and cannot tie those casings to Mr. King, they should not be allowed to present the opinion of Mr. Romeo.

The testimony/evidence is not relevant to these proceedings. Even if the Court found the evidence relevant, the prejudice of said evidence clearly outweighs the probative value, and would lead to misleading the jurors and confusion of the issues under Florida Statute 90.403. (5/871)

Judge Economou denied this motion "subject to the State laying a proper foundation and chain of custody" (6/1010). [At trial, defense counsel renewed his prior objection. The judge overruled it based on his prior ruling, and said "[Y]ou may have a continuing objection as to that" (24/2437-38;see 2527). State Exhibit 104, consisting of the 47 fired cartridge cases which Officer Saxton gathered up at the firing range, was introduced into evidence subject to the previous objection (24/2441-42;see 25/2640-41)].

The defense also moved to exclude and/or limit any testimony by John Romeo stating his conclusion that three of the 47 shell casings collected from the firing range were fired from the same firearm as a single shell casing (State Exhibit 61) found near the location where body was found. Defense counsel pointed out that this was not a traditional ballistics case, because Romeo's analysis did not include test-firing or comparison to any specific firearm; he was simply comparing the markings on the cartridge cases and purporting to state with 100% certainty that they were fired from the same weapon. The defense contended that Romeo's conclusion was (1) insufficiently reliable to warrant admission into evidence, (2) not based on adequate defining standards nor on adequate empirical foundation; (3) would mislead the jury; and (4) "[t]he testimony by Mr. Romeo that he is 100% certain that all of the [casings] were fired from the same weapon

is not supported by underlying principles that have been sufficiently tested and accepted by the relevant scientific community" (6/1044-46,1052-54;see 21/1801-06). Defense counsel requested that the trial judge conduct a Frye¹ hearing (19/1494-97;21/1802-03). The state, on the other hand, contended that a Frye hearing was unnecessary, and the judge overruled the defense's objection without conducting one (19/1495;21/1806-11,1812-14;24/2527).

During jury selection, the trial court overruled the defense's objection to the state's peremptory strike of a minority juror (no. 111)(20/1764-65).

The case proceeded to trial before Judge Economou and a jury on August 24-28, 2009, and resulted in verdicts of guilty as charged on all three counts (7/1267-68;27/3074-75). The penalty phase took place on September 1-4; the jury unanimously recommended a death sentence (7/1354;30/3754). On December 4, 2009, the trial court imposed the death penalty², finding four statutory aggravating factors (HAC, CCP, homicide committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest, and homicide committed during the course of a kidnapping or sexual battery); three of these were assigned great weight, and the fourth moderate weight (11/2047-58,2063-64).

The court found as a statutory mitigating factor that King's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired by brain damage, resulting from a head injury suffered in a snow

¹ Frye v. United States, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923); see Ramirez v. State, 810 So.2d 836 (Fla. 2001), a copy of which was appended to the defense's motion (6/1063-82).

² King was also sentenced to life imprisonment for kidnapping and thirty years for sexual battery (11/2064,2138,2147-50).

sledding accident at age six. [Dr. Wu had testified that PET scan results were "compatible with significant brain injury"]. Due to the conflicting opinions of the defense expert and the state's expert (Dr. Gamache) as to the applicability of the statutory mitigator, the trial court gave it moderate weight (11/2058-59). The court also found and gave moderate weight to two related nonstatutory mitigating factors; the head injury itself, and the fact that the frontal lobe damage may cause "bizarre behavior, paranoia, lack of impulse control, aggression, impaired cognition, and risk-taking" (11/2060-61). [In the penalty phase extensive testimony was presented from Michael King's brothers Gary and Rodney, two former girlfriends, and Dr. Wu regarding King's history of intermittently displaying such behaviors, both during his adolescence and during the stressful period in the weeks preceding the crime (27/3195-2000;28/3259,3380-81,3384-88;29/3469-81,3494,3492-93,3498-3502,3516-28,3531,3536-41)]. The court found and gave moderate weight to King's borderline IQ (in between mentally retarded and low average), and to King's history of nonviolence (11/2061-62). The court found as a mitigator but gave little weight to King's depression, headaches, and stress in the weeks before the crime due to his unemployment, impending bankruptcy, impending foreclosure on his home, and his girlfriend breaking up with him (11/2062). Given some weight were the mitigators that King has never abused drugs or alcohol, and that he has been a cooperative inmate in jail before trial (11/2063). Given little weight were several other nonstatutory mitigators, including King's educational deficiencies (being placed in special ed

and learning disabled classes, and having to repeat grades); his being a good father to his 13 year old son; his close relationship with his friends and family; and his being a good worker (21/2061-63).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The state's theory of the case was that was kidnapped, sexually battered, and shot to death by Michael King, and that nobody else was involved. Specifically, the prosecutor repeatedly argued to the jury that Robert Salvador had nothing to do with the murder (26/2970,2976-79,2987-90;2995;27/3001,3025, 3029-31).

The defense, while not expressly conceding that King committed the kidnapping and sexual battery, did not really argue an alternative theory as to those offenses. Instead the focus of the defense was that the state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that King was the person who shot Ms. Lee. The defense contended that the shooter may have been Robert Salvador, who had been target shooting with King at a firing range earlier in the day (21/1843-46,1849;27/3002,3007,3011-22).

The case was tried on the mutual understanding that the jury could not convict King of first-degree murder unless it found beyond a reasonable doubt that he (and not Salvador) was the shooter. The jury was given the Introduction to Homicide instruction that "[i]f you find that Denise Amber Lee was killed by Michael L. King" then it must consider the circumstances to determine the degree of the offense (27/3032-33). In order to convict for premeditated murder, the jury was instructed that it

must find, inter alia, that the death was caused by the criminal act of Michael King (27/3034). The jury was not instructed on principals [see Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 3.5(a)], nor did the state request such an instruction. As to felony murder, the jury was instructed on three essential elements, each of which it had to find beyond a reasonable doubt in order to convict; (1) that Ms. Lee was dead; (2) that her death occurred in the commission of kidnapping by King; and (3) that "Michael L. King was the person who actually killed Denise Amber Lee" (27/3035) [Standard Jury instruction 7.3.3a]. The jury was not given (and the state did not request) (see 25/2800;26/2801) an alternative element instruction [Standard Jury Instruction 7.3.3b], which if given would have permitted a conviction even if King were not the actual perpetrator, if the jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that both he and the person who did kill the victim were principals in the underlying felony. Both the state and the defense were aware in their closing arguments that the murder charge was being prosecuted only on the theory that King was the actual killer (see 26/2995;27/3002,3019-20), and it was never suggested to the jury that King might be found guilty of premeditated murder or felony murder even if Salvador was the shooter.

Jennifer Eckert was ______ next door neighbor on Latour Avenue in North Port. In the early afternoon of January 17, 2008, between 1:00 and 2:00 p.m., she saw a dark green Camaro slowly circling the block, about 4-5 times. Ms. Eckert went outside and saw the car pull into the Lee driveway. The driver was the only

occupant she saw. He had a heavy-set face, blondish hair, and light eyes. Assuming he was a friend of the Lees, Ms. Eckert went back inside her house. 10-15 minutes later she saw the car pull out of the driveway (21/1924-49).

The police were first notified that was missing a little after 4:00 p.m. When the first officer arrived at her house on Latour, she found the front door locked from the inside, the windows closed, and Ms. Lee's two small children home alone. There was no sign of forced entry and no sign of a struggle. Ms. Lee's vehicle was outside, and her keys, cell phone, and purse were in the house (21/1851,1873-75,1894-1902;23/2284-85).

Harold Muxlow is Michael King's cousin. On January 17, 2008, between 5:30 and 6:00 p.m., King showed up unexpectedly at the front door of Muxlow's house on Karluk Street in North Port. King said his lawnmower was stuck in the front yard and he needed to borrow some tools; a shovel, a gas can, and a flashlight. King came inside and they chatted for a while. According to Muxlow, King was wearing a white shirt with a design on it. Then they went to the trailer where the tools were kept, and Muxlow gave him the requested items. King's car was parked by the mailbox. As Muxlow headed back toward his house he heard a female voice saying to call the cops. Muxlow yelled to his cousin, "What the fuck are you doing," and King said "Nothing, don't worry about it". Muxlow thought it was a boyfriend/girlfriend thing, but curiosity got the best of him, so he turned around and walked toward the car. He could see a silhouette in the center of the car, and shoulderlength hair. Muxlow saw King push her head down; then he drove

away (21/1953-66,1972-74,1988-89,1997;24/2429).

Something didn't seem right to Muxlow, so he called his daughter Sabrina and told her what he thought just happened. He told her not to call the police (but he later learned that she called them anyway). He drove to King's house and didn't see anything stuck in the yard. King's car (a green Camaro) was not there either, and nobody answered the door. Muxlow anonymously called 911, but he wasn't completely forthcoming and did not identify his cousin (21/1966-71,1993-94).

When Muxlow returned to his house, the police were there; they questioned him then, and returned several times that night (21/1971,1974). Muxlow owns a 9mm handgun. He advised the police of its presence when they interviewed him (21/1974-76; see25/2714-15). Muxlow has never seen his cousin Michael King in possession of a 9mm handgun (21/1987-88).

An audiotape of a 911 call received at 6:14 p.m. was played

to the jury (22/2132-34,2137;23/2239-44). The female voice on the tape was self-identified as Denise, and stipulated to be (23/2239,2241). The male voice was identified by Muxlow as his cousin Michael King (21/1976-78,1996-98), and the third voice is that of the dispatcher. On the tape, Denise is repeatedly heard asking to be let go and to see her family again. She tells the dispatcher she doesn't know where she is, doesn't know the guy she's with, and - - when asked her home address - - says "Can you take me home, on Latour, please?" Asked by the dispatcher if she has a blindfold on, she replies that she can't see. The male identified as King is heard telling her to give him the phone.

Denise asks if he's going to let her out now, and he replies "As soon as I get the phone." She then says "Help me" (23/2239-44).

Shawn Johnson was driving south on 41 to Fort Myers in the early evening. At a stoplight at the corner of Chamberlain he heard six or eight screams for help coming from the car (a Camaro) next to him. The voice was female. Johnson rolled down his window and saw the driver (21/2000;22/2001-03). The next day, after he heard people talking about it and realized it wasn't a prank, he called 911 and the police. Johnson was shown a photo lineup and (after being told by the detective, "I'd like you to pick somebody out" or words to that effect) identified King's photograph.

Johnson also identified King in court as the driver of the Camaro (22/2004-08,2014-19).

Jane Kowalski was also driving southbound on 41 heading to Fort Myers; she was talking to her sister on a hands-free cell phone. It was just starting to get dark. At a stoplight at Cornelius Blvd./Cranberry St. she heard screaming and commotion coming from the car next to her. The car was a Camaro, dark-colored or blue. She described the screaming as loud and terrified, and it continued the whole time they were at the light. Kowalski looked at the driver who, with one hand, was pushing something down in the back seat. A small hand came up from the back seat and was banging hard on the passenger-side window (22/2091-2101).

Kowalski told her sister to get ready to write down the license tag number when she could get behind the vehicle to read it. When the light turned green she hesitated, waiting for the Camaro to go, but that car didn't pull forward either; it stayed

behind her and wouldn't pass. There was other traffic around them. When she realized she wasn't going to get the tag, Kowalski ended the phone call with her sister and called 911 (22/2101-06).

An audiotape of Kowalski's 911 call was played to the jury (22/2105-11). In it she said she thought it was a 5 or 10 year old child screaming in the back seat and banging on the window. The driver was a white male with sort of light-colored hair. The driver turned left on Toledo Blade; there was a lot of traffic and Kowalski didn't think she could catch up (22/2108-11).

The following Sunday, Kowalski spoke with North Port police. By that time she'd already seen Michael King's picture on the TV news. She identified King from a photo lineup (22/2112-16,2126). In court she identified King as the driver of the dark-colored Camaro and she identified a photo of the vehicle (22/2116,2119-20).

As a result of the leads and information they'd developed, police officers went to Michael King's residence on Sardinia Avenue, just after 7:00 p.m. Nobody was home, but a television in the front room was on (with loud volume) and a clock radio in the master bedroom was playing very loud music. There was a roll of silver duct tape on the kitchen counter. In the bedroom there were two blankets (one with a Winnie-the-Pooh design) and some pillows on the floor. A yellow blanket covered the window. A mirror (which appeared to have been taken down from the dining room wall) was on the bedroom floor, slanted against the wall. In a corner was a hairband (stipulated to be the same type worn by

light-brown hairs (21/1876-77;23/2268-73, see 2333,2336-40). [The next morning a warrant was obtained, and the house on Sardinia was processed for evidence (21/1872;23/2322-25,2356-57). Investigators cut and removed a large area of the bedroom carpet. A garbage bag in the kitchen pantry contained some duct tape with hair on it. However, no 9mm handgun or ammunition was found anywhere in the house (23/2322-25,2333-35,2341-46,2356-57)].

Based on the information they'd been given, the police were looking for a dark green 1993 or 1994 Camaro, with a known tag number registered to Michael King (21/1863-64;22/2021-22,2038). A little after 9:00 p.m. on January 17, Deputy Wymer and Trooper Pope were positioned on Toledo Blade near I-75 when they saw a Camaro generally fitting the description get on the on-ramp to I-75 southbound. Pope followed the vehicle and soon was able to verify a tag match. After an abortive attempt to contact dispatch, he turned on his lights and siren and did a "felony stop". Pope drew his weapon and ordered the driver out of the car. After five commands and a threat by Pope to fire into the car, the driver got out, exiting backwards. Pope put him on the ground, patted him down, and handcuffed him (21/1852;22/2020-29,2038-50,2059-60).

Trooper Pope identified the person he arrested as Michael King (22/2050-51). At the time of his arrest, King was wearing blue jeans, a camouflage T-shirt, and black sneakers. His clothing was dirty and wet from his waist line down to this shoes. From King's pockets, Pope seized a cell phone with its battery missing, a wallet containing his driver's license, and a container for ear plugs (of the type used at firing ranges).

inside the Camaro. Items found inside the vehicle included a five gallon gas can, a shovel with dirt caked on the bottom, a blue flashlight, a wooden bed railing, a yellow blanket, and a container of baby wipes. There was a ring on the back seat. [The ring was stipulated to belong to ______]. On the front passenger-side floorboard was a piece of paper with a footprint and, beside it, the missing cell phone battery. The floorboard appeared to be wet, thought not soaked. On the vinyl covering on the front exterior of the Camaro, and on the "spoiler" on the rear of the vehicle, there were some hair strands and (on the spoiler) what appeared to be some blood pellets. On the hood was an unidentified mucus or saplike substance (21/1877-78;22/2050-61;23/2289-96,2301-16,2321,2357-58,2391).

Trooper Pope testified that no firearm (9mm or otherwise) and no bullets were found inside the car, or on King's person, or anywhere in the vicinity. From the time Pope first observed the green Camaro on Toledo Blade getting ready to merge onto the Interstate, until the time he stopped the vehicle and arrested King, he did not see any objects being thrown out of the vehicle (22/2028-29,2060-64;see 21/1878).

The search for ______, already underway, continued and expanded throughout the night and the following day (21/1853-54). On the night of January 18, near an abandoned construction site in the vicinity of the Plantation Blvd. and Toledo Blade, a dog search led to the discovery of a disturbed area of sandy ground. Further inspection indicated some spots of blood. Excavation began the next morning, and eventually Ms. Lee's body was recovered,

buried 3-4 feet deep. She was unclothed, in a tight fetal position with her left side down. There was some water at the very bottom of the hole (21/1852,1865-69;22/2167-2209;25/2787-92;26/2834-42,2853-59).

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