IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL L. KING,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-2421 L.T. Nos. 2008 CF 001087 NC 2008 CF 000936 NC

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

the facts contained in those questions.¹³ In other words, the judge's instruction was superfluous because there was no <u>evidence</u> from which the facts asserted in those questions could have been found, or, even, inferred by the jury. Consequently, it cannot be said King suffered any prejudice as a result of the trial court's instructions to disregard those questions.

As noted, King's attempt to show some justification for defense counsel's behavior in this case fall far short, and, fails to suggest, much less establish some good faith factual basis for the stricken questions. In an attempt to obfuscate this rather glaring weakness in his argument, he contends that the trial court in this case impermissibly commented upon defense counsel's credibility. King's argument is factually inaccurate. The trial court did advise the jury as discussed above to disregard those three questions and answers. The court also advised the jury: "I'm asking you to disregard such because there is no basis in fact from the evidence or the inference from the evidence for the asking of said questions." (V25, 2629). The trial court's brief instruction did not

¹³ Salvador last had contact with King in the early afternoon of January 17th when King left the gun range in his Camaro. (V24, 2550, 2587). During the course of his investigation Detective Morales confirmed through receipts and video [Home Depot] Salvador's whereabouts on the afternoon and evening of the charged offenses so that "he could not possibly be in that area at the same time." (V21, 1887).

comment upon defense counsel's credibility. The court did not chastise or otherwise condemn trial defense counsel in front of the jury. In any case, with or without the court's instruction the jury was obviously aware that no evidence supported the facts contained in those questions. Accordingly, the trial court's instruction was reasonable and no abuse of discretion has been shown.

It is unclear why King cites <u>Scipio v. State</u>, 928 So. 2d 1138, 1145-1146 (Fla. 2006). This Court in <u>Scipio</u> addressed a material discovery violation by the State, and the State's use of that improper evidence to its own tactical advantage. In this case, the defense neither alleged below or on appeal any discovery violation by the State. Rather, the issue in this case addresses defense counsel's improper cross-examination of a state witness. Thus, this Court's decision in <u>Scipio</u> provides no support for King's argument on appeal.

Next, King makes an unrelated burden shifting argument, referencing the prosecutor's closing argument. However, King fails to credibly link the comments to any claim of error relating to the trial court's disallowance of those three questions of Mr. Salvador. Perhaps King recognizes that neither issue comes close to establishing some sort of meaningful error in this case, and he therefore attempts to join these unrelated

claims together in a "Composite Point on Appeal." (Appellant's Brief at 60). Appellate counsel's attempt fails, as his cryptic argument does not show that any improper argument was made by the State in closing, much less a prejudicial burden shifting comment.

closing argument the prosecutor properly addressed In defense counsel's attempt to shift blame for the murder upon Mr. Salvador or some other, unspecified party. The law does not require the prosecutor to sit, deaf dumb and blind in closing argument. See McKenney v. State, 967 So. 2d 951, 955 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007)(rejecting claim that the prosecutor could not respond to defense counsel's "rhetorical question and comments to the jury during the State's closing" noting that "[t]he defense essentially asks that the State be prohibited from answering the question first posed by defense counsel..."). Since the defense counsel in opening statement told the jury that "the evidence" would "show" "the person who fired that single shot, the person who ended her life was not Michael King" (V21, 1843-44) and in cross-examining Mr. Salvador, actually accused him of murdering the victim, the State was certainly allowed to ask the jury to consider the fact that no evidence presented during the trial supported such a theory. See Caballero v. State, 851 So. 2d 655, 660 (Fla. 2003)(while it is not permissible to comment on

the defendant's right to remain silent, "it is permissible for the State to emphasize uncontradicted evidence for the narrow purpose of rebutting a defense argument since the defense has invited the State's response."); Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1995)(Prosecutor's argument asking the jury to consider "what fact, what testimony, what anything have you heard" to contradict the State's evidence was not a comment on the defendant's failure to testify but merely asked "the jury to consider the evidence presented."), receded from on other grounds, Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 2004); White v. State, 377 So. 2d 1149, 1150 (Fla. 1979)("It is proper for a prosecutor in closing argument to refer to the evidence as it exists before the jury and to point out that there is an absence of evidence on a certain issue.")(citations omitted).

The prosecutor did not personally attack defense counsel and did not ridicule either counsel or his theory of defense, despite the fact counsel was advocating an unsupported and implausible theory of defense in light of the evidence arrayed against King. <u>See Dufour v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1986)("An examination of the statements in question and the context from which they arose, however, leads us to conclude that the statements directed the jury's attention to defense counsel and the evidence presented rather than to appellant's

failure to testify."). Finally, assuming for a moment any error can be discerned in the prosecutor's comments, any error was clearly harmless. <u>Caballero</u>, 851 So. 2d at 660 (stating that erroneous comments on defendant's failure to testify require reversal only "where there was a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict" and finding that given the confession, fingerprint and DNA evidence, the alleged error was harmless).

Assuming arguendo, some error can be discerned in this matter, given the uncontradicted and overwhelming evidence of King's guilt, the error was clearly harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986); Ventura v. State, 29 So. 3d 1086, 1090-91 (Fla. 2010)(stating that assessment of harmless error is not simply an "overwhelming evidence test" but that the proper analysis considers whether there is a "reasonable possibility" that the error affected the verdict)(citing DiGuilio). It must be remembered that King's assignment of error encompasses the trial court's instruction to disregard a total of three questions to a single state witness, and, in instructing the jury, redundantly perhaps, that the reason it so instructed them is that there were no facts or factual inferences to support those questions. This can hardly be considered an important or significant matter

in this capital trial in which King was caught red-handed leaving the vicinity of Mrs. 's fresh burial site, with compelling and uncontradicted eyewitness and physical evidence establishing that he kidnapped, raped, and murdered

The victim was last seen and heard [911 call] alive in King's control, screaming and pleading for help, and in his car after having been taken from her home and her two young children. The State presented such a large amount of evidence establishing King's guilt that calling the evidence against Mr. King overwhelming would be an understatement.¹⁴ <u>See e.g.</u> <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u>, 900 So. 2d 495, 517 (Fla. 2005)(finding witness's comment on the defendant's silence was harmless where the evidence was "overwhelming" and included the fact the defendant was identified as the source of semen recovered from the victim and that the victim was last seen alive with the defendant.). Keeping in mind that this Court independently reviews the record to "determine whether sufficient evidence

¹⁴ This Court necessarily assesses the strength of the State's case in determining whether or not a trial error has been harmful. For example, in <u>Gosciminski v. State</u> 994 So.2d 1018, 1028 (Fla. 2008), this Court found reversible error based upon the prosecutor asking questions which asserted that the victim's ring was covered in blood for which the prosecutor had no good faith basis. This Court noted that "not one piece of physical evidence or eyewitness testimony tied Gosciminski to this murder." In contrast here, the State presented overwhelming physical and eyewitness testimony tying King to the abduction, sexual battery and murder of Mrs. Lee.

exists to support" the defendant's murder conviction" the State provides a summary of the evidence to address both harmlessness and sufficiency.¹⁵ <u>See Hojan v. State</u>, 3 So. 3d 1204, 1217 (Fla. 2009)(citations omitted).

DNA testing confirmed that sperm cells inside of 's vagina and on her shorts found at the burial site, matched King at all 13 loci, to the exclusion of all other person's on the planet, or 1 in one quadrillion Caucasians.¹⁶ (V24, 2465-67). **Description** burial site was found within hours of her disappearance and her body had fresh bruising and injuries to her inner thigh, vagina, and anus which were consistent with forcible rape. (V26, 2903, 2922). **Description** made a 911 call <u>from King's cell phone</u>, pleading for help, and begging to see her family again. (V23, 2239-41). King's voice was indentified on that same 911 call, demanding his phone. (V21, 1978,1998). King was apprehended in his car with that same phone, in the vicinity of the burial site, still wet and

¹⁵ A sufficiency review is succinctly stated as follows: "If, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt, sufficient evidence exists to sustain a conviction." <u>Hojan</u>, 3 So. 3d at 1217 (citation omitted).

¹⁶ Mrs. Lee's boxer shorts, found a short distance from her burial site, contained a mixture stain, from which King's sperm cells separated and positively matched to King. The DNA match yielded population statistics of "one person in 3.5 trillion individuals." (V25, 2756).

muddy from digging the hole in which Mrs. 's body was ultimately found. DNA and fingerprint evidence established that Mrs. was held in King's car. The physical evidence included DNA from blood and hair, matched conclusively to Mrs. ',¹⁷ and Mrs. 's palm print on the driver's side window, and her wedding/engagement ring was found on the back seat of King's car when King was apprehended. The evidence indicated that King's car was at least partially spattered by blood and fluid from

as a result of the fatal gunshot wound. eyeball disintegrated as a result of the gunshot and blood on the hood of King's car consistent with Mrs. **The second second** is was found, as well as head hair and a gelatinous material, consistent with the mucous or viscous material contained in a human eyeball. (V26, 2895-96).

DNA evidence also establishes that was held in King's home, the likely scene of the sexual battery. Hair,

 $^{^{17}}$ Hair from the back seat of King's car matched at all 13 locations, or the odds of it coming from anyone other than Mrs. Lee leaving that hair was one in 110 trillion Caucasians. (V24, 2472). A blanket recovered from the back seat of King's Camaro had a blood stain which matched DNA profile to the exclusion of all other people on the planet." (V25, 2748). Blood on the hood of King's car, also matched at 10 of 13 locations, sufficient to conclude that the blood came from . (V24, 2472-73). Similarly, a swabbing of material or fluid on the bra of King's Camaro profile at 8 of 13 locations, sufficient matched for the analyst to conclude it came from . (V24, 2473-74).

found on silver duct tape in King's kitchen trash can was matched to Mrs. at all 13 locations, and therefore to the exclusion of all other people on the planet, or, one in 110 trillion Caucasians.¹⁸ (V24, 2470-71). Duct tape consistent with this tape was found on and around the hair on Mrs. 's head when her body was found. Bruising along Mrs. 's wrist suggests that her hands were bound with duct tape. (V26, 2867). A roll of silver duct tape was found on the kitchen counter of King's house. This roll of tape was consistent with the piece found in the trash, and another wadded up piece found in King's master bedroom (V23, 2270-71), as well as the duct tape found on

body.¹⁹ Blood stains or mixtures from a blanket on King's bed and carpeting in his master bedroom were consistent with as well as sperm matched to King.²⁰

¹⁹ The tape had the same class characteristics, color, width, "warp yarns" running in the same direction and spacing of the "fill yarns." (V24, 2496).

²⁰ The blanket in King's master bedroom had a blood stain mixture, consistent with King and Mrs. Lee's profiles. (V25, 2751). That blanket also contained a semen stain which matched King, with a frequency of "one person in every 1.1 quadrillion." (V25, 2752). An area of carpet which was tested revealed a stain with DNA consistent with profile, with a population frequency of 1 in every 19,000 individuals. (V25, 2753).

None of this forensic evidence was challenged or countered by King, much less an innocent explanation offered. The physical and forensic evidence alone was more than sufficient to establish King's guilt. Nonetheless, compelling eyewitness testimony also established that King acted alone in kidnapping, raping, and murdering

Mrs. 's neighbour identified a green Camaro with a dark cover over its headlights [matching the description of King's Camaro], circling the block slowly four or five times on the afternoon of her disappearance. The car parked in the driveway and the sole occupant of the car had a physical description consistent with King's. (V21, 1928, 1931, 1937).

Mr. Muxlow, King's cousin, after unknowingly providing the implements King would use for disposing of **second body** [flashlight and shovel], heard **second second body** from King's car. Muxlow observed King push **second body** head down from the back seat and take off in his car. (V21, 1963).

Two witnesses observed King in his Camaro in the vicinity of the burial site, shortly prior to her murder and heard Mrs. screaming for help. Both, positively identified King as the driver of the Camaro the screams were heard coming from. (V21, 2007-08; V22, 2116). One, in addition to hearing

"horrific" screams, observed Mrs. 's hand banging on the window of King's car, "very loudly." (V22, 2099).

Finally, King was pulled over in the vicinity of the burial site, alone, his jeans were still wet and covered in dirt and sand, fresh from burying Mrs. . ²¹ Mrs. was found some four feet deep and Mrs. was lying in water. King's car still had the shovel, flashlight, and gas can that Muxlow had lent him earlier that evening. The shovel had dirt and sand on it and was consistent with the rounded shovel that was used to dig Mrs. 's grave. (V25, 2790-91).

In conclusion, there is no conceivable view of the evidence in this case for which defense counsel's three cross-examination questions, without any record or, for that matter, non-record factual basis, could have altered the outcome of this trial. Balanced against the overwhelming and uncontradicted evidence of King's guilt in this case is an alleged error so insignificant, that it cannot have contributed to the verdict. <u>See Neder v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 18, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1838 (1999) (explaining that the <u>Chapman</u> standard asks whether it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a **rational jury** would have found

²¹ The fact that King's camouflage shirt had no blood on it when he was apprehended is explained by the fact he changed his shirt. Muxlow testified that when King borrowed his shovel, flashlight, and gas can, King was wearing a white shirt. (V24, 2429). King's white shirt, like the murder weapon, has not been found.

the defendant guilty absent the error")(emphasis added); <u>Com. v.</u> <u>Mitchell</u>, 576 Pa. 258, 280, 839 A.2d 202, 214-215 (Pa. 2003)(applying the same harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard as Florida and noting that "the reviewing court will find an error harmless where the uncontradicted evidence of guilt is overwhelming, so that by comparison the error is insignificant.")(citation omitted). Accordingly, no relief is warranted.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE 47 FIRED CARTRIDGE CASES FROM THE GUN RANGE?

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